1980

Stanley Martin Redd, Sheila M. Redd, His Wife;
Sterling Hardson Redd, Jill D. Redd, His Wife; Paul
Dutson And Donna Dutson, His Wife v. Western
Savings & Loan Company : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Respondent, pursuant to "due on sale" provisions contained in a trust deed, but not in the promissory note itself, commenced non-judicial trust deed foreclosure proceedings against Appellants' real properties solely as a result of the contract sale of those properties by the Appellants who were the original borrowers. The purpose of the foreclosure proceedings was to permit the Respondent to obtain an increase in the interest rate payable under the trust deed note, as well as to obtain payment of prepayment or refinance charges. The Appellants, as a result, commenced this action for a declaratory judgment to determine that the Respondent had no right to foreclose its trust deed, for injunctive relief against those administrative foreclosure proceedings, and for damages. The Respondent filed its Motion to Dismiss alleging that the Appellants' complaint failed to state a cause of action against the Respondent.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Third District Court of the State of Utah, the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, presiding, after hearing arguments on Appellants' Motion for Preliminary Injunction and the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, and after treating the Respondent's motion as a Motion for Summary Judgment, granted Summary Judgment in favor of the Respondent.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellants respectfully request that the Summary Judgment of the Third District Court be reversed and that this matter be remanded for trial on the issues.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Preliminary Statement.

The issues in this case involve consideration and application of language in mortgages and trust deeds commonly referred to as a "due on sale" clause, which purports to permit a lender to accelerate the mortgage note to require immediate payment of all remaining indebtedness upon the sale, transfer or further encumbrance by the borrower of any of the borrower's interest in real property securing the loan. At the present time, application and scope of "due on sale" clauses are being widely litigated in state and federal courts; are the subject of numerous commentaries in legal periodicals as well as publications directed at the real estate and mortgage loan markets; and are the subject of concern by state and federal regulatory agencies.

The application and scope of "due on sale" clauses have a pervasive affect in both the real estate markets and the mortgage loan industries and, as an ultimate result, directly affect individual rights and ownership in real property. Thus, applicability of "due on sale" clauses has a broad social and economic impact on the ownership and transferability of real property, not only in Utah but nationwide.

The instant case is the result of a groundswell of current activity in Utah whereby many lenders have aggressively attempted to enforce the "due on sale" clauses commonly contained in most mortgages and trust deeds. While these important issues have been litigated in other jurisdictions, the instant case involves legal and equitable issues of first impression in Utah, which transcend the specific disputes between the parties hereto.

B. Facts of the Instant Case.

On or about November 18, 1976, the Appellants executed a Trust Deed Note in favor of the Respondent in the principal sum of \$108,000.00 (R.33), and all payments to Respondent were current at the time the disputes, which are the subject of this action, arose (R.38, 40). This Trust Deed Note is secured by a Deed of Trust on a twenty-four (24) unit apartment building in Salt Lake County, Utah (R.22). The "boilerplate" language in the Trust Deed securing the obligation includes "due on sale" language purporting to permit the Respondent to accelerate the note and to require immediate payment of all remaining indebtedness, upon the sale, transfer

or encumbrance by the borrowers of any of their interest in the subject property. The applicable language is as follows:

29. Trustor agrees to notify the Beneficiary in writing should said property or any interest therein be conveyed, transferred or assigned, whether by deed, contract of sale, lease with option to buy or otherwise, and whether or not the instrument of conveyance, transfer or assignment be recorded. Should said property or any interest therein be so conveyed, transferred or assigned, whether or not Trustor gives written notice thereof, all indebtedness secured hereby shall forthwith, without notice, become due and payable at the election of Beneficiary, and in addition there shall be due and payable to the Beneficiary an amount equal to the prepayment fee due Beneficiary upon prepayment of the note according to the terms of the note and should Beneficiary not so elect and the person who acquires said property or any interest therein assumes the indebtedness evidenced by the note secured hereby, Trustor waives presentment, demand, protest and notice of nonpayment of said note, and consents to delays, changes in time of payment, and the amount of installments due under said note, and to the reduction or increase of the interest rate thereof.

30. Should Trustor further encumber said property, or any part thereof, or any interest therein, or agree so to do, without the written consent of Beneficiary being first obtained, Beneficiary shall have the right, at its option, to declare all sums secured hereby forthwith due and payable. Consent to one such encumbrance shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the right to require such consent to future or successive encumbrances. (Emphasis supplied) (R.25).

Concurrently with execution of the Trust Deed, the Appellants executed a separate document entitled "Acknowledgment of Trust Deed Acceleration Clauses," making reference to the paragraph numbers containing above-quoted "due-on-sale" language (R.31), which the Respondent, apparently as a regular matter of practice, requires borrowers to execute.

While, the trust deed note does not contain any similar language, the note does contain the following language imposing substantial costs in the event Appellants elect to prepay or to accelerate the note:

The privilege is hereby granted to prepay the amount due on this note, in whole or in part, on any interest paying date by paying to the holder hereof, a premium in an amount equal to six (6) months interest on the then unpaid principal balance due hereunder (R.33).

The remaining principal balance, at the time the dispute arose was in excess of \$104,000.00 (R.47); and interest on the note is 9-3/4% per annum (R.33). Under the terms of the note, therefore, the Appellants would have been required to pay a substantial penalty in excess of \$5,000.00 to have the right to accelerate total payment.

On or about September 25, 1979, the Appellants entered into a contract for the sale of the subject property to third parties, while the Appellants retain fee title to the property (R.3, 41, 111). Under the terms of the contract, the Appellants continue to be obligors under the trust deed note, continue to make payments to the Respondent through an escrow account established for that purpose (R.38, 40), continue to receive payment for their equity in the property (R.41), and are required to convey title to the property only after full and timely payment by the purchasers of the purchase price (R.41).

Subsequent to execution of this contract, the Appellants have continued to pay to the Respondent all loan payments in a timely manner and the Respondent has not alleged any

default in payments (R.38, 39, 40, 42). The Respondent, nevertheless, has returned all tendered payments since the payment due for February 1980 (R.13, 38, 41). The Appellants have made a continued tender of payments, with those payments presently being deposited in savings account number 01-177353-14 with the Respondent, and all rights to that account have been assigned to the Respondent (R.38, 40).

Solely on the basis of the Appellants' contract for sale of the subject property, and the Appellants' refusal to consent to the requested increase in the interest rate payable to the Respondent, as well as additional financing charges, the Respondent, on March 9, 1980, recorded a Notice of Default commencing non-judicial trust deed foreclosure proceedings on the subject property pursuant to the "due on sale" clause (R.65), which the Respondent contends creates an automatic right in the Respondent to demand acceleration of the trust deed note, declaring the entire balance due and payable (R.13, 29, 45, 46). The purpose of this attempted acceleration is to compel the re-execution of the trust deed note at a substantially higher rate of interest and the payment of additional financing charges.

The Appellants filed this action in response to the foreclosure proceedings praying for a declaratory judgment to interpret and determine the rights of the Respondent for foreclosure of the subject property, for injunctive relief precluding the foreclosure, and for damages for wrongful foreclosure (R.2).

Not only has the Respondent never made any allegations of any default in payments, the Respondent has not alleged the existence of any facts or circumstances which create the likelihood of any future default in payments, damage or potential damage to the properties securing the loan, nor any other default by the Appellants (R.39, 40, 41). The Respondent bases its demand for acceleration solely upon the contract sale of the subject property (R.13) and the intention to require an increase in interest rate over and above the amount originally contracted for between the Appellants and the Respondent at the time the original trust deed note was negotiated and executed, together with other refinancing charges (R.29).

Based upon these transactions and the documentation involved herein, the Honorable Judge Kenneth Rigtrup, without hearing any other evidence (R.110), entered an Order of Summary Judgment (R.110) in favor of the Respondent holding that, in this case, the "due on sale" clause is not an unreasonable restraint on alienation, is not contrary to public policy of Utah, and is a legal, valid and enforceable contract provision which does not work a penalty or forfeiture (R.113). The effect of this judgment is to permit continuation of the pending non-judicial trust deed foreclosure, requiring acceleration of the entire remaining principal balance and the payment of additional fees. The Appellants urge that the effect of this

judgment, also, is to establish a dangerous precedent, recognizing the right of a lender automatically to require renegotiation of interest rates, and to obtain the benefit of refinancing charges, upon the contract sale or other transfer of an interest in property, even though the promissory note itself contains no language authorizing the acceleration and even though substantial legal and equitable issues remain unconsidered by the Courts of Utah.

ARGUMENT I

ENTRY OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS NOT JUSTIFIED OR APPROPRIATE IN THIS CASE

The issues raised in this case involve important and substantial questions of law and equity impacting on the real estate and lending businesses throughout the State of Utah, and involve transactions identical to numerous other common real property transactions in the State of Utah. The Appellants contend that the issues raised in this case, being of substantial interest, concern and impact, require careful and thoughtful judicial consideration in order to lend clarity and guidance to the present uncertainty and concern.

Despite these major and substantive issues of law and equity involved in this case, and the implications involved for the mortgage loan and real estate markets and the transferability of real property by owners, the lower court in entering Summary Judgment held, as a matter of law, that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact in this matter precluding a determination in favor of the Respondent (R.113). The lower court, as a result, was in error, thus

establishing a wideranging precedent without the careful consideration which these significant and complex issues demand.

Clearly, entry of Summary Judgment is not appropriate unless there is no likelihood that any genuine issues of material facts may exist. Rule 56, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; In re Williams Estates, 10 U.2d 83, 348 P.2d 683 (1960). Likewise, the substantial issues create significant justiciable issues. Holiday Acres No. 3 v. Midwest Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n of Minneapolis, 271 N.W. 2d 445 (Minn. 1978).

The parties raised, in their respective affidavits and memoranda submitted to the District Court, substantive and complex issues involving the nature of the transactions between the parties, the nature of the mortgage and lending businesses, and complex economic assumptions involving the secondary mortgage market and its alleged affect upon the mortgage loan industry. Supporting the Respondent's motion were self-serving affidavits and arguments which the lower court obviously accepted on their face. This has precluded discovery, admission of relevant evidence, and findings of fact and conclusions of law to lend certainty and guidance as to the law applicable in the State of Utah. Notwithstanding the determination by the lower court, there are at least the following material issues of fact and law which the Appellants should have the right to present for determination in this case:

1. The "due on sale" language, which is the core of the issues herein, purports to grant an automatic right to accelerate a loan in the event of a sale or transfer, but significantly grants the lender no specific right to increase interest rates, or to accelerate the loan to require an increase of interest rates, and the accompanying refinancing charges, in the event of such a transfer. At best, this clause, standing alone, is ambiguous and misleading to the borrower. It is further ambiguous when compared with the contradictory language of the trust deed note which exacts a substantial penalty in the event of early payoff (in this case, the prepayment penalty would be in excess of \$5,000.00). The lower court's findings of fact, however, do not address this basic issue, i.e., the interpretation and scope of the note and trust deed language itself to determine the rights of the parties thereunder, although other courts have recognized the need first to examine the contract language. Silver v. Rochester Sav. Bank, 424 N.Y.S. 2d 945, 947-48 (1980); Nichols v. Ann Arbor Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 73 Mich. App. 163, 250 N.W.2d 804 (1977); Clark v. Lachemeier, 237 So.2d 583 (Fla. 1970).

2. Equally important, no evidence was presented nor examined by the lower court relative to the significant fact that the "due on sale" language is included only in the documents providing security for the note, but not in the promissory note itself. No evidence was presented to the lower court as to whether, in this case, the language should, therefore, be construed solely for the purpose of protecting the lender's security, and not as part of the agreement concerning interest rates.

3. No evidence was presented to the lower court concerning the circumstances surrounding the execution of the subject documents in order to determine the respective intentions and understandings of the parties at the time of execution.

4. The Respondent made numerous allegations and arguments regarding the requirement of a "due on sale" clause being necessary to preserve adequate secondary mortgage market funding, conclusions strongly disputed by the Appellants, and arguably without substance unless the Respondent can show evidence of any adverse affect on lending practices in the states where the courts have rejected the Respondent's arguments. No evidence was presented, nor examined, in the trial court, relative to that critical issue, although the findings of fact accept the Respondent's position as true on its face.

5. The Court heard no evidence concerning the nature or operation of the Respondent's practices, requirements and regulatory frameworks in the mortgage lending business nor, indeed, any other financial institution in the State of Utah or elsewhere. Notwithstanding this fact, the lower court apparently accepted, on their face, the Respondent's arguments as to the desirability of allowing mortgage lenders periodically to adjust portfolios to current market interest rates regardless of the specific interest rates previously negotiated.

6. No finding has ever been made by the Court regarding any different application, or emphasis, if any, of "due on sale" clauses in "commercial" vs. "residential" transactions and settings, a distinction raised by the Respondent before the lower court and obviously relied on by the lower court in its findings of fact (R.110).

7. Despite findings of the trial court that the "due on sale" clause, as worded in this case and as treated in this case, is not against public policy (R.113), no evidence was presented nor findings made as to the public policy considerations which should be examined by the Courts in this state and elsewhere.

8. Despite the finding of the trial court that the transactions in this case did not constitute unreasonable restraints on alienation (R.113), no evidence was presented as to whether or not such a "due on sale" clause in the first place constitutes a restraint on alienation and, if so, whether such a restraint is an unreasonable restraint. The treatment and analysis of this issue has been a central point of departure in cases resulting in opposite holdings, e.g. Occidental Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Venco Partnership, 293 N.W.2d 843 (Neb. 1980), Wellenkamp v. Bank of America, 148 Cal. Rptr. 379, 582 P.2d 970 (1978).

9. Without specific evidence or findings justifying its conclusion, the lower court was in error in determining that the Respondent's actions did not constitute a penalty or forfeiture, but constituted valid transactions.

10. The Court did not determine or examine whether, under the Court's equitable powers, the foreclosure herein, even if allowed, should have been treated as a mortgage foreclosure, allowing a redemption period, rather than as a non-judicial trust deed foreclosure allowing no redemption after the initial ninety (90) day period, although the affect of Respondent's acceleration is to accelerate the total balance as a mortgage foreclosure action does.

11. No determination was made by the trial court as to the affect, from "due on sale" clauses, on mortgagors' anticipations and setting of rents, costs, charges, tax affects and other economic considerations in property transactions nor the extent to which lenders are in the better position to anticipate and protect themselves against future economic fluctuations.

12. No evidence of any nature, other than bare assertions by the Respondent, was offered to the lower court to show that unenforceability of "due on sale" clauses would have a materially adverse affect upon lenders and upon the mortgage market in the State of Utah.

13. No findings or determinations were made by the lower court as to whether a "due on sale" clause in a mortgage or trust deed is the appropriate or equitable vehicle to control interest rates and adjustments in the face of a changing economy.

14. Issues were raised, but unresolved, in the lower court relative to the supposed federal preemption of Utah real property law involving the "due on sale" clauses and the scope and nature of Sections 7-7-5.1 and 7-13-14, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended (R.19, 58, 112, 113). While the Findings of Fact state that the Appellants "misanalyze the scope and nature of" those sections (R.113), the lower

court failed to state or clarify the applicability of those statutes.

Given the fact that the issues in this case involve substantial and complex issues of law, equity, economics, lending practices, real estate ownership considerations, interpretation of commonly used mortgage and trust deed language, and public policy considerations, the failure of the lower court to allow the Appellants to present evidence involving these issues was clearly in error, and that court's judgment should be reversed and, at the very least, remanded for consideration of evidence to determine the interpretation and applicability of the language at issue in this case; the intentions of the parties at the time of execution of the loan documents; whether, even if applicable, the "due on sale" language is a restraint on alienation and, if so, whether it is an unreasonable restraint; whether "due on sale" language is automatically enforceable absent a showing of jeopardy to the lender; whether automatic application of the "due on sale" language is contrary to public policy; whether the applicable language constitutes a penalty or forfeiture; and whether legal or equitable circumstances exist in this case requiring separate treatment or application of the law.

ARGUMENT II

THE "DUE ON SALE" LANGUAGE APPLICABLE IN THIS CASE DOES NOT AUTOMATICALLY PERMIT THE INCREASE OF INTEREST RATE IN CONNECTION WITH A TRANSFER OR SALE OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY

The lower court has made the determination that the language at issue in this case is enforceable under the circumstances of this case. Significantly, no substantive examination of the applicable language itself has been made by the Court.

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