1980

Stanley Martin Redd, Sheila M. Redd, His Wife;
Sterling Hardson Redd, Jill D. Redd, His Wife; Paul
Dutson And Donna Dutson, His Wife v. Western
Savings & Loan Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

If lenders are forced temporarily to absorb losses caused by a judicial decision that they cannot enforce due-on-sale clauses, they will have to recover from future

customers the unrealized anticipated revenues.¹ This will be necessary in order to cover losses sustained by carrying low interest rate mortgages as well as to cover future risks which the lender will have to bear beyond the usual ten to twelve-year period. The only way additional revenue can be generated is by charging higher rates to new customers on conventional mortgages, by instituting variable rate mortgages which reflect current interest rates, by making short-term loans amortized over shorter periods which would require all purchasers to refinance their loans more often, or by ceasing to make new loans and go to the second-mortgage market. Under any of these alternatives, a borrower's monthly

¹Savings and loan associations, including Western Savings, recently have been put into a serious earnings crunch with the substantial rise in interest rates during the past two years. Many will have a net operating loss for 1980. To attract depositors, they have had to offer unprecedentedly high rates of interest on their passbook accounts, certificates of deposit and money market certificates. Without these deposits, the lending institutions would be unable to maintain minimum reserves on which to borrow additional funds which in turn are lent to prospective home purchasers.

Because savings and loan associations "borrow short and lend long," they are squeezed during periods of rising interest rates: they have to pay extremely high interest on short-term accounts, by using income from relatively low-interest long-term loans. This problem arises because the vast majority of the loans which a lender holds in its portfolio was made before the steep rise in interest rates. Consequently, savings and loan associations are forced to pay high-interest short-term accounts from low-interest long-term mortgage loans. The only way these lenders can continue to make loans and meet expenses is to raise the yield of their loan portfolio. If they are prevented from raising the rates on previous loans, e.g., by using the due-on-sale clause, then they will have to raise rates dramatically on future loans.

payments will be higher, thus making it impossible for many otherwise qualified buyers to purchase property. See, Malouff v. Midland Federal Savings and Loan Association, 509 P.2d at 1244-45; Wellenkamp v. Bank of America: A Victory for the Consumer?, 31 Hastings L.J. 275, 293-97 (1979); 'Flexibility in Housing Subsidies, No Variable Mortgages' - Garn, The Salt Lake Tribune, November 28, 1980 at B-6. Lenders Pushing Second Mortgages to Ease Pinch of Long-Term Loans, The Wall Street Journal, November 4, 1980 at 31. In contrast to these alternatives, the reasonableness of the due-on-sale mortgage is apparent. Under this type of mortgage, the interest rate is fixed between the lender and his original borrower. The original borrower is able to retain the advantage of his original interest rate for as long as he has the loan, even though current interest rates may have risen substantially. If the original borrower sells the property during the life of the loan, the new buyer is then able to assume the loan at least at the current interest rate and probably at a slightly lower rate than the market rate. Malouff v. Midland Federal Savings and Loan Association, 509 P.2d at 1245.

Appellants' brief attempts to demean the beneficial aspects of the due-on-sale clause by mischaracterizing Western Savings' argument before the lower court. Western Savings has never argued that an adverse "decision will bring the mortgage loan industry to its knees" or that "financial

chaos has fallen upon the states who have rejected [the arguments presented herein.]" Appellants' Brief at 28.

Lending institutions will continue to make loans to enable borrowers to purchase homes and investment properties. They will in fact incur some losses if they are not allowed to rely upon the due-on-sale clause, but as demonstrated above the primary adverse impact will be upon borrowers seeking new loans. They will be forced to accept one of the alternatives to conventional mortgages, and they will bear all the attendant disadvantages.

Appellants rely heavily upon California precedent. Since Wellenkamp, however, California lenders have found new ways to alleviate the bind in which that decision placed them. They have instituted many of the alternative loans described above, and the adverse impact on prospective borrowers has been real. See, e.g., Wellenkamp v. Bank of America: A Victory for the Consumer?, 31 Hastings L.J. 275 (1979).

The question before this Court is who will bear the burden of increased interest rates brought on by inflation? The appellants seek to shift that burden from existing borrowers who already have realized inflationary gains in the value of their property to lending institutions, including Western Savings, and to those new borrowers who want to purchase homes but who may be unable to afford the higher payments resulting from that shift.

Such a result should not be allowed. The issue of who is to bear the burden of increased rates was decided previously by the appellants themselves when they agreed that Western Savings could either accelerate their loan if the apartment complex was conveyed by contract of sale or increase the interest rate of that loan if it were to be assumed. This resolution of the issue was approved in Gunther, 489 S.W.2d at 532, when the court stated:

[The lender under its contract had] the right to insist upon the repayment of their loan in the event of sale, so that they can relend the money at an increased interest rate, and so maintain their supply of lending money, at the level of the present cost of such money. In this situation, equity should not depart from the law which requires it to enforce valid contracts and strike down the acceleration options simply because its exercise will let the [lenders], not the [borrowers] make the profit on the interest rate occasioned by the increased cost of money.

This resolution similarly should be approved by this Court.

2. The due-on-sale clause is necessary to obtain adequate secondary mortgage market funding.

Besides having an adverse impact on borrowers seeking new loans, elimination of the due-on-sale clause would reduce the number of loans that could be made. The amount of mortgage money which Utah savings and loan associations, including Western Savings, receive from their depositors is far less than the amount they lend out. They are able to lend additional money because of their ability to sell their financing instruments to investors in the secondary mortgage market outside the state.

These secondary mortgage market investors, as did Western Savings, anticipated that mortgage loan interest rates would be adjusted every ten to twelve years. If they do not receive that readjustment through enforcement of the due-on-sale clause, they either will refuse to purchase Utah mortgages or else will require a higher rate of interest on new loans to compensate for the increased risk of holding the mortgages for longer periods. Therefore, without enforceable due-on-sale clauses, to sell trust notes and mortgages on the secondary market, Utah lenders will be required to charge new borrowers substantially higher interest rates, thereby decreasing the number of loans that will be made.

In contrast, the reasonableness of the due-on-sale loan agreements is apparent, because through their use Utah lenders are able to obtain funds from the secondary market, thereby enabling more people to purchase homes at lower rates.

As demonstrated, infra, appellants fail to address fairly the adverse economic impacts which will result if this Court strikes down the due-on-sale clause.

The Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"), the major purchaser of mortgage loans, announced that beginning with loans written October 1, 1980, those new buyers seeking to assume existing loans will be unable to do so unless they pass a credit check and agree to accept prevailing market interest rates. See, Fannie Mae to Require

Prevailing Rates, Credit Checks on Mortgage Assumptions, The Wall Street Journal, August 11, 1980, at 25.

In addition, "Fannie Mae" has announced that it no longer will buy conventional mortgages from lending in those eleven states which judicially or statutorily have prohibited enforcement of due-on-sale provisions. Instead, it only will purchase loans which carry a provision that the entire loan can be called after seven years, with no guarantee of refinancing. See, Higher Mortgages, 'Call-In Option' Threaten Homebuyers, Industry, The Salt Lake Tribune, Nov. 8, 1980 at C-6. This means that all new home buyers will be faced with the threat of increased rates and payments in seven years, whereas if they had conventional mortgages with enforceable due-on-sale clauses, they would be assured of a fixed monthly payment for as long as they owned their homes.

Future borrowers should not be forced to bear the risks of increased rates or of an inability to finance home purchases. These risks can be avoided by allowing lenders, including Western Savings, to enforce the due-on-sale provisions of loan agreements into which borrowers, including appellants, freely entered.

C. Enforcement Of The Due-On-Sale Clause In This Case Is Equitable.

Not only is the enforcement of the due-on-sale clause reasonable, as discussed above, but it also is equitable in this case to allow an upward adjustment of the interest rate pursuant to the loan agreement. This is so

because: (1) if the interest rate had gone down, appellants could have refinanced their property at the lower rate; (2) under the doctrine of laches, appellants are barred from challenging the due-on-sale clause, since they waited more than three and one-half years to object to its provisions; (3) under the doctrine of "unclean hands," appellants are barred from challenging the due-on-sale clause because of their demonstrated bad faith and secretive actions evidenced by their concealment of the transfer of the property; and (4) this case involves investment rather than residential property, as discussed, infra.

If the interest rate had decreased after appellants took their loan from Western Savings, they could have refinanced their property pursuant to the Trust Note, and prepaid the loan from Western Savings, thereby incurring some prepayment expense. If appellants had refinanced with Western Savings, it was its policy not to charge a prepayment fee. But if the appellants had gone elsewhere to refinance their property at lower rates, Western Savings would have been bound by the terms of the Trust Note and would not have realized any long-term revenue anticipated in making the loan. Now, however, when interest rates have gone up rather than down, appellants argue they should not be bound by the terms of their agreement with Western Savings. In other words, appellants contend that Western Savings should bear all the risks. If interest rates go down, appellants should be able to refinance at the lower rate; and if interest rates

go up and if appellants sell their property, Western Savings should not be able to adjust the loan rate to account for that increase. This is an inequitable proposal, particularly where, as here, the appellants agreed to and Western Savings relied on the provisions of the loan documents which allowed Western Savings to either accelerate the loan in the event of sale or else increase the interest rate of the loan to the new buyer who assumes the loan.

It is crucial to note that appellants for more than three and one-half years did not challenge the due-on-sale clause. Appellants neither objected to that provision when they executed the Trust Deed, Trust Note, and "Acknowledgment of Trust Deed Acceleration Clauses" nor contested that provision at any time during the following three and one-half years. Appellants obviously viewed their loan arrangements as economically beneficial to them for that period, but now, because they have sold the property and interest rates are higher, they are seeking any way possible to avoid their obligation under the due-on-sale provision. In effect, they are asking this Court for a reformation of the contract. It is patently inequitable for them first to obtain and for three and one-half years receive the benefit of the loan agreement, which included the due-on-sale provision, and now after selling the property, seek to challenge and evade that provision.

Not only did appellants wait for such an unconscionably long period before objecting to the due-on-sale

provision, they were not honest enough to inform Western Savings of their conveyance of the property. Instead, they deliberately concealed the transfer and avoided informing, confronting or negotiating with Western Savings. Where the appellants so obviously are motivated by bad faith and have engaged in inequitable conduct, they are not entitled to the relief they seek in this appeal.

Lastly, even the California courts, the decisions of which are cited extensively in Appellants' Brief, have held that it is reasonable and equitable to enforce the due-on-sale clause where the subject property is investment property. See, Medovoi v. American Savings and Loan Ass'n., 89 Cal. App. 3d 875, 152 Cal. Rptr. 572, 587 (1979). Similarly, because this case involves investment property--a 24-unit apartment complex--the due-on-sale clause should be enforced and the decision of the lower court should be affirmed.

D. Western Savings Has The Statutory Right To Enforce The Due-On-Sale Clause.

Federally-chartered savings and loan associations are governed by federal regulation and are specifically authorized to enforce due-on-sale clauses:

(f) Due-on-sale clauses. An association continues to have the power to include, as a matter of contract between it and the borrower, a provision in its loan instrument whereby the association may, at its option, declare immediately due and payable sums secured by the association's security instrument if all or any part of the real property securing the loan is sold or transferred by the borrower without the association's prior written

consent. . . . [E]xercise by the association of such option (hereafter called a due-on-sale clause) shall be exclusively governed by the terms of the loan contract, and all rights and remedies of the association and borrower shall be fixed and governed by that contract. 12 C.F.R. § 545.8-3(f)

The effect of this regulation is to enable Utah's federally-chartered savings and loan associations to increase the yield of their mortgage portfolios, consequently permitting them to remain profitable and offer new loans at the lowest possible rates.

The Utah Legislature has insured that state-chartered savings and loan associations in Utah shall be competitive with those which are federally-chartered. This was accomplished by enactment of Sections 7-7-5.1 and 7-13-74, Utah Code Annotated.

Section 7-7-5.1 provides that "any savings and loan association . . . may make any loan . . . which such association could make were it incorporated as a federal savings and loan association. . . ."

Section 7-13-74 further provides that any state-chartered savings and loan association:

shall have, in addition to all rights, powers, privileges, benefits and immunities presently possessed, all additional rights, powers, privileges, benefits and immunities now or hereafter possessed by federal chartered savings and loan associations . . . unless and until the commissioner of the department of financial institutions of Utah shall, by regulation, disapprove of any additional right, power, privilege, benefit or immunity, thus acquired.

The Utah Legislature thus has authorized Utah's state-chartered savings and loan associations to offer the

same kinds of loans as federal associations. Accordingly, Utah law authorizes state associations to enforce due-on-sale provisions such as the one in the agreements between Western Savings and the appellants.

The Utah Legislature has not "[subordinated] its regulation of state [associations] . . . to all present and future regulations adopted by the federal bureaucracy," as appellants contend. (Appellants' Brief at 31.) On the contrary, Section 7-13-74 specifically provides that the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Institutions may, by regulation, prevent state associations from enforcing the same provisions that a federal association could enforce. The Commissioner, however, has not ruled that state-chartered savings and loan associations may not enforce due-on-sale clauses. Therefore, Utah law permits Western Savings to rely upon and enforce the due-on-sale clause contained in its agreement with appellants.

II. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY
GRANTED BY THE LOWER COURT.

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